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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

REBECCA TRESSLER,
Plaintiff,
V. Civil Action No. 09¢v-2027(RLW)

NATIONAL RAILROAD PASSENGER
CORPORATION,

Defendant

MEMORANDUM OPINION *

Plaintiff Rebecca Tressler (“Tressler a railroad engineer employed by the National
Railroad Passenger Corporationore commonly known as AmtrgkAmtrak’). She bringghis
lawsuit against Amtrakasserting a number of employmdratised claims Specifically, Tressler
pursuesthe following emaining claims against mtrak (1) Hostile Work Environment in
Violation of Title VII and the D.C. Human Rights A¢tDCHRA”) (Counts | and 1) (2)
Retaliation in Violation of Tie VII and the DCHRA (Counts Il and 1V); (3) Hostile Work

Environment/Constructive Demotion in Violation of Title VII and the DCHRA (Counhtsnd

! This unpublished memorandum opinion is intended solely to inform thiegpand any

reviewing court of the basis for the instant ruling, or, alternatively, $tstam any potential

future analysis of thees judicata law of the case, or preclusive effect of the ruling. The Court
has designated this opinion as “not intended for publication,” but this Court cannot prevent or
prohibit the publication of this opinion in the various and sundry electronic and legal databases
(as it is a public document), and this Court cannot prevent or prohibit the citation of thopini

by counsel. Cf. FED. R. APP. P.32.1. Nonetheless, as stated in the operational handbook adopted
by our Court of Appeals, “counsel are reminded that the Court’s decision to issue an unpublished
disposition means that the Court sees no precedential value in that disposition.” Bui. Cir
Handbook of Practice and Internal Proceddi@$2011).
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VI); and (4) Violation of the Federal Employers’ LiabilitycA(“FELA”) (Count VII).? This
matter is before the Court on Amtrak’s Motion for Summary Judgment (Dkt. No. 52).hd-or t

reasons set forth below, the Court concludes that Amtrak’s Motion mGRAATED.

BACKGROUND

The overall facts surrounding Tré=ss claims are largely undisputed. Amtrak operates
a nationwide rail network system serving over 500 destinations in 46 states andahaeeac
provinces. (Dkt. No. 52'Def.’s Mem”) at 1-2). From 19922010, Amtrak also operated trains
owned by theVirginia Railway Expresg“VRE”). (Id. at 2). Tesslerbegan her employment
with Amtrak in 1987 as a Passenger Locomotive Engineer (“Engineer”). (Dkt. N8. 52
(“Tressler Dep) at 97). In 2004, Tressler bid on and was awarded an Engineer positeon on
VRE route between Fredcksburg, Virginia and Washington, D.(Id. at 101; Dkt. No. 52
(“Scala Dep) at 179. In so doing, Tressler displaced a more junior Engineer, but this was a
common practice for Amtrak employees.(Tressler Depat 77-79, 18-94). At the time,
Tressler was the first and only female Engineer with a regularly schedgigdrasent on the
Fredericksburg line. (Dkt. No. 53{6Tressler Decl.”) at ¥).

From January 13, 2006 to June 22, 20D&ssleralleges that a male pasger, Mr.
Draper,”stalked her on the VRE during his morning commute to wofKkressler Depat 120.
Tressletbelieves Mr. Drapetouched her on her back, blocked her path to the operating cab door
with his bags, occasionally opened the operating cab door, stared at her through the window, and
took pictures of her. Id. at 12123). Tresslerreported Mr. Draper’'s behavidgo an Amtrak

conductor in mieFebruary2006 and to her immediate supervisor in March 200&l. &t 125).

2 Originally, Tressleralso asserted defamation claim, but the Court dismissed that claim

in its Order Granting (in Part) Amtrak’s Partial Motion to Dismi@3kt. No. 34).
2
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Shealso filed a policeeportaround that time. (Dkt. No. 82 (“5/25/06 Email”). During the
police investigation, Amtrak removed Tressler from the VRE and placed her onl slhutgiao
she would not have to interact with Mr. Draper. (Tressler Dep. aB@B4 After conductig
their investigation, the police could netibstantiatelTressler'saccusations. Okt. No. 525
(“Bodtmann Dep.")at 6. However,apolice investigatorecommendethat Tresslebe able to
cover thecab door windowo minimize distractions.(Dkt. No. 52-7 (“6/9/06 Union Letter”)).
Because VRE, not Amtrak, owned the tramessleroperatedAmtrak sent VRE a letter asking
that Tressler be permitted to cover the winddWressler Dep. at 131; Dkt. No. &2(*6/19/06
Amtrak Letter”)). VRE denied thaequest by letter dated June 22, 2006, citing security reasons.
(Dkt. No. 529 (“6/22/06 VRE Letter”)). However, Mr. Draper stopped riding Tressler's tai
the same time, and Tressler confirmed that June 22, 2006 was the last time she Baap&fr
on her train. (Dkt. No. 52-10 (“12/4® EEOC Charge”) atffi19, 23.

Since Tressler was not permitted to cover the cab window, she alleges thad shesiha
in an uncomfortable position in the cab to avoid Mr. Draper’s vi@d. at § 7 Dkt. No. 5211
("5/3/07 EEOC Charge”) at {1 16) As a result, Tressler alleges she suffered back pain,
headaches, and numbness in her hands. (5/3/07 EEOC Charge)at3h&began seeing a
chiropractor for these symptoms on April 24, 2006, vitentified her symptms as stress
related and indicated the position in her chair exacerbated the condition. By October 10,
2006, Tresslerstoppedseeing hechiropractor because the pain was mostly gofk). (

On September 14, 200®6ressler injuredher ankle wheishe slipped exiting a train by the
engine ladder.(Tresser Dep. at 274; Dkt. No. 522 (“Disability Claini’). On December 5,
2006, Tresslersigned a Disability Claim Form statiripat she hurt her ankle anthat she

stopped working on October 25, 200&chuse of the injury(ld.).
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On December 19, 2006Tressler filed an administrative chargevith the Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission (EEO&ainst Amtrak and VRE asserting that biael
beensubjected to dostile work environment and retaliati@mnce January 2006 (12/19/06
EEOC Charge Her supporting declaration focused almost exclusively enrteractions with
Mr. Draper. [d.) She lateamended her original Charge on May 3, 2@067nclude allegations
dating back to August 2004 and #dxhal assertions that occurred since filing her original
charge. (5/3/07 EEOC Charge After May 2007, Tressler did not file any other charges with the
EEOC, nor did she otherwise seek to amend her prior charges.

In January 2007,Tressler bid on and was awarded an Engineer position in the
Washington, DC. yard. (Tressler Dep. at 105)Although tis position paid the same hourly rate
as her prior position on the VRETressler assertthat thejob offered fewer hours per week,
which, in turn, had the effect of cutting her pay in halGee d. at 305 309. Tressler also
contends that the schedule for her new position was less desirable hemyse=d her to work
nights and weekends. (5/3/07 EEOC Charge at 1DRring this time,Tresslerknewshe could
bid on any open position, displace another Engimmebid on the extra list. Tfessler Depat
10607, 26162, 30607). She alsacould have waitedo bid on another @ition becausaewly
open positions weradvertised on a weekly basigd. at 119. Ultimately, Tresslerstayed in the
Washington, D.C. yard faapproximately ten months, until October 2007, when she bid on and
was awarded a position in the Northeast Corridtt. af 308-10.

Following her transfer, Tressler was not pdidginningsometime in October 2007
through February 2008. (Dkt. No. 20 (“Am. Compl.”) at § 28pparently, Tressler had failed
to submit her timecards during much of this period, which Amtrak requires before #scena

paycheck. (Tressler Dep.ta228). As of January 30, 2008, Tressler still had not provided any
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time records for her work. (Dkt. No. 8% (“Mazeika Dep.”) at 28 Dkt. No. 5214 (“1/3/08
Email”)). Ultimately, after she did so in February 2008, Amtrak provided Tressler whikck
for all of the time she worked from October 2007 through February 2008. (Tressler B@p). at

Upon moving to the Northeast Corriddmessler was required tearn the new routand
“qualify,” by riding trains with fellow Engineers. (Dkt. No. $#Il.’s Opp’n’) at 19). In the
course of “qualifying,” Tressler rode with several different Enginegrsluding co-worker
Michael Flora, with whom she had previously ridden. (Dkt. Ne2 §2Marcelle Decl.”) at Ex.
B). On March 19, 2008Tressler reportetb Amtrak that Mr. Florahad sexually assaulted her
while riding together on the traimn March 14, 2008. Iq.; Tressler Depat 21820). The same
day it received Tressler's report, Amtrallsspute Resolution Officdbegan investigating the
incident. (Marcelle Decl. at 1 10). Amtrak also notified Amtrak Police, which pdatkto
conduct its own investigation.ld(). Amtrak completed its investigation in less than one week,
suspended Mr. Flora, issued charges against Mr. Flora, and scheduled adigdigaring to
take place. Id. at 1 1011). Following thoselisciplinary proceedings, Amtrak terminated Mr.
Flora’s employment effective May 16, 2008. (Dkt. No. 52*Féora Discipline”)at 1318).

After reporting theassault, Tresslewas excusedrom work fromMarch 19 througi27,
2008. (ressler Dep. at 336)Onceshe returned, on April 2, 2008resslerreported that she
saw sexually explicit grafti in the Engineer compartment of hexin. (Marcelle Decl. at 1 12
13). Amtrak immediatelyremoved the graffiti, and the DRO investigated the gra#itd
reported it to Amtrak Police(Tressler Dep. at Z5 Marcelle Decl. at { 13)On April 14, 2008,
Tresslerthen reported additional sexualhased graffiti on April 14, 2008, which Amtrakag
removed while the DRO and Amtrak Police continued their investigaiiptarcelle Decl. at |

14). Tressler believes that some of the graffiti was directed at her, because she saweasfer
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her first name, “Becky,” and her initials, “RAT.” (TressDep. at 240). However, not all of the
graffiti was sexuallybased or sexually inappropriate. Tressler also saw graffiti of a nonsexual
nature,including graffiti consisting of “Turkle is number one,” “I love Tom Mazeika, ufst
about the Poconos,” and pictures of fishd. &t 24345).

On April 17, 2008, Amtrakssued noticeso employeesn the Northeast Corridor stating
it had received reports of sexualfyaphic and inappropriate graffiti on train equipment and
devices, and that the incidents wdreing investigated by Amtrak Police. (Marcelle Decl. at
15; Dkt. 5218 (“Graffiti Notices™). Amtrak’s notices expresslgtated that such behavior would
not be tolerated and directed employees to report graffiti immediately to thervisopavho
would contact Amtrak Police. Id.). According to Tressler, however, graffiti continues to
appear, as recently as October 201PIl.’ Opp’n at 10). Finally, Tressler asserts that her
manager, Mr. Mazeika, improperly suspended her pay for a second tiktayi2008, on the
grounds that Tressler was taking too long to “qualify” for her route. (Pl.'s OpA's)a

Tressler ultimately received her “rigtd-sue” notice from the EEOC on July 30, 2009,

(Compl. at 1 24), and she filed her Complaint initiating this action on October 28, 2009.

ANALYSIS
A. Standard of Review
Summary judgment is appropriate when the moving party demonstrates that there is no
genuine issue as to any material fact andtti@toving party is entitled to judgment as a matter
of law. FeD. R.Civ. P.56(9; Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, In@77 U.S. 242, 247 (1986Yjoore
v. Hartman 571 F.3d 62, 66 (D.C. Cir. 2009)A genuine issue of material fact exists if the

evidence “is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving [sigglé
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v. Schafer535 F.3d 689, 692 (D.C. Cir. 200@)uotingAnderson477 U.S. at 248) While the

Court views all facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving partgeaching that
determinationKeyes v. Distof Columbia 372F.3d 434, 436 (D.C. Cir. 2@), the nonmoving

party must nevertheless provide more than “a scintilla of evidence” in supportpafsiteon.
Anderson 477 U.S. at 252. To establish a genuine issue of material fact, the nonmoving party
must demonstratethrough affidavits or other competent evidengep. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1)—

that the quantum of evidence is such that a “jury could reasonably find for the [nonmoving

party].” Anderson477 U.S. at 252.

B. Hostile Work Environment Based On Sexual HarassmeniCounts | and I1)
Title VII forbids an employer from discriminating against any individual becausexof s

Harris v. Forklift Sys.510 U.S. 17, 21 (1993) (quoting 42 U.S.C. § 26BD@9(1). In turn, an
employer cannot create or condone “a hostile or abusive work environment #réssrent is
sufficiently abusive to affect a term, condition, or privilege of employmebi&avis v. Coastal
Int’l Sec., Inc, 275 F.3d 1119, 1122 (D.C. Cir. 2002) (internal quotations omitted). To establish
a prima faciehostile work environment clarras required to defeat an employer's summary
judgment motioa—a plaintiff must demonstrate that: (1) she is a member of a protected class; (2)
she was subjected to unwelcome harassment based upon sex; (3) the harassamnallgr
interfered with the plaintiff's work performance and created an intimidating)éhas offensive
working environment; and (4) there is some basis to impose liability on the empliolyeat

1122-23:Kilby-Robb v. Spellings22 F. Supp. 2d 148, 162-63 (D.D.C. 2007).



SUMMARY OPINION AND ORDER; NOT INTENDED FOR PUBLICATION
IN THE OFFICIAL REPORTERS

Importantly, it must be clear that the allegedly harassing conduct complaingdsof
based on a protected characteristi®., the plaintiff's sex. Davis 275 F.3d at 1123ilby-
Robh 522 F. Supp. 2d at 163. This is significagtduse:

Everyone can be characterized by sex, race, ethnicity or (real or perceived)

disability; and many bosses are harsh, unjust and Hticetherefore important in

hostile work environment cases to exclude from consideration personnel decisions

that lack a linkage of correlation to the claimed ground of discrimination.
Otherwise, the federal courts will become a court of personnel appeal

Bryant v. Brownleg265 F. Supp. 2d 52, 63 (D.D.C. 2003) (quot#fano v. Costellp294 F.3d
365, 377 (2d Cir2002)). Stated differently, “hostile behavior, no matter how unjustified or
egregious, cannot support a claim of hostile work environment unless there existtirkage
between the hostile behavior and the plaintiffs membership in a protected cldasdh v.
Clinton, 626 F. Supp. 2d 63, 73 (D.D.C. 2009).

In addition, “[n]ot all abusive behavior, even when it is motivated by discatory
animus, is actionable.” Stewart v. Evans275 F.3d 1126, 1133 (D.C. Cir. 200@hternal
guotations omitted) Rather, these standards asefficiently demanding to ensure that Title VII
does notbecome a general civility code” and to filter out “the ordinary tritbohes of the
workplace.” Faragher v.City of Boca Raton524 U.S. 775, 788 (199&nternal quottons
omitted) As the D.C. Circuit has explain€tlsjexual harassment creates a hestihvironment
only if it is sosevere or pervasivasto alterthe conditions of the victim’@mployment and
createan abusive working environmentTaylor v. Solis571 F.3d 1313, 1318 (D.C. Cir. 2009).
By contrast,‘[c]onduct that is not severe or pervasive enough to create an objectively hostile or
abusive work environmentan environment that a reasonable person would find hostile or
abusive—is beyond Title VII's prview.” Oncale v. Sundowner Offshore Serwsc., 523 U.S.

75, 81 (1998) (quotingfarris, 510 U.S. at 21). In determining whether a work environment is

impermissibly “hostile,” the Court must look to the totality of circumstances, inguttire

8
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frequency of thediscriminatory conduct; its severity; whether it is physically threatening or
humiliating, or a mere offensive utterance; and whether it unreasonablyeieservith an
employee's work performanceHarris, 510 U.S. at 21Faragher, 524 U.Sat 788.

Finally, as “he legal standard for establishing discrimination under the DCHRA is
substantiely the same as under Title Vligburtsproperly considehostile work environment
claims under Title VII and the DCHRA coextensivelglhusseini v. Compass Group USA, Jnc.
578 F. Supp. 2d 6, 18 (D.D.C. 200@)ting Sparrow v. United Air Lines Inc216 F.3d 1111,
1114 (D.C. Cir. 2000).

Here, Tressler principallyelies on two acts to support her hostile work environment
claims: (1) the appearance ofxamlly-based graffiti on Amtrak trains, which Tressler believes
was directed at her; and (2)saxual assault against Tressler by a male coavoMr. Flora.
(Pl’s Opp’'n at 7-12). She also contends that the Court should consider offaats” in
conducing its analysisbut she fails toelaborate on any of these additional “f4cend she
completely fails teexplain how they suppoher hostile work environment claims. Instead, she
raisesthese issues through nothing more thaconclusoy parentheticatlievoid of any tangible
argumens orevidence “[T]hoseincidents must be viewed collectively with the other facts in the
record €.g.unfair allotment of overtime opportunities, damage to personal property, stoppag
pay, etc.). (Pl.’sOpp’nat 8). As the D.C. Circuihas explained, “a district court should not be
obliged to sift through hundreds of pages of depositions, affidavits, and interrogatoridsrin or
to make [its] own analysis and determination of what may, or may not, be a gessuieef

material fact.” Jackson v. Finnegan, Henderson, Farabow, Garrett & Duntéd F.3d 145,

3 This parallelism is equally true with respect to Tressler's retaliation and wonssr

demotion claims, which are also pled concurrently under both Title VII and the DCHR#s,
just as with Tressler's hostile work environment claims, @oairt’'s analysis on those other
claims applies to her claims under both federal and District of Columbia substamti

9
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151 (D.C. Cir. 1995 (internal quotations omitted) To the extent that Tressldoelieves
additional incidents or acts support her claims, she was required toicadgceaddress those
issues ando support her arguments with admissible evidence. She did not. Thejesbras
Tressler has done, the Court will confine its discussion of her hostile work enviroclaerg to
the two specific incidentsoted abové.

First, Tressler contends thsthe wassubjected to a hostile work environment due to the
appearance of what she believedb® “sexually explicit graffitt—graffiti that she argues is
sufficient by itself to establish liability.(Pl.’s Opp’n at 810). According to Tressler, not only
did she observe graffiti thatoasised of sexual references and drawings of male and female
anatomy but some othe graffitiwas also directed specifically at hestensiblyusingher first
name, “Becky,” and her initialSRAT.” (Tressler Dep. at 240)However, as Amtrak correctly
notes, much of the graffiti Tressler observed was not related to her or direbtrevhatsoever
nor was it sxual in nature-she also saw graffiti consisting Ofurkle is number one,” “I lge
Tom Mazeika,” “stuff about thBoconos,” and pictures of fishld(at 243-245. To be sure, this
type of graffiticannot be used to support a claim of hostile work environment based on sex.

But even with respect to the graffiti that does appgeanave been sexual in nature,
Amtrak could only be found liable for those actions if it “knew or should have known of the
harassment and failed to implement prompt and appropriate corrective a&imy’ v. Dist. of

Columbig 195 F.3d 654, 660 (D.C. Cir. 1999). Here, the undisputed evidence demonstrates that

4 Further, Amtrak addressed at least some of these additional “facts” in its\gnovi

papers—explaining why those alleged incidents could not establish an actionable hostile work
environment. $eeDef.’s Mem. at 1417). Tressler failed to respond to Amtrak’'s arguments,
and the Court therefore treats those particular arguments as condésletbn v. Office of the
Architect of the Caipol, 840 F. Supp. 2d 384, 39D.D.C. 2012) (“When a party files an
opposition addressing only certain arguments raised in a dispositive motion, a coureahay
those arguments that the non-moving péatled to address as concedggdDay v. D.C. Def’ of
Consumer & Regulatory Affaird 91 F. Supp. 2d 154, 159 (D.D.C. 2002).

10
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once Tressler reported the graffifmtrak took swift and appropriate action to address the
problem. Amtrak promptly removed the graffiti and reported the issue to Amtrak Paliue,
Amtrak Policebegan investigating theraffiti. (Tressler Dep. at 250; Marcelle Deal § 13).
Amtrak also issued written notices to its employees emphasizing that graffiti would not be
tolerated and instructing that any graffiti was to be immediately reported tageraent for
appropriate investigation. Marcelle Decl. at {f 145; Mazeika Dep at 80-81); Graffiti
Noticeg. Specifically,Amtrak’s noticesadvised employees as follows

[Y]ou are reminded that company policy strictly prohibits offensive graffiti,

pictures, cartoons and other materials based on an individual’s gender . . . or other

personal chracteristic protected by lawTherefore sexually graphic and

inappropriate graffiti WILL NOT BE TOLERATED. All graffiti of anyature

MUST IMMEDIATELY be reporte to your supervisor, who in turn will report it

to the Amtrak Police. Any graffiti found on locomotives and coaches must also
be documented on the appropriate MAP form.

(Graffiti Noticeg (emphasis in original) Despite allthis, Tressler argues that Amtrak’s actions
fell short because it “made no changes to its policies regarding gréifiti'were designetb
prevent graffiti from reappearing.PI(’s Opp’n at 9). This argument is unavailing. Not only
does Tressler seem to overlook the fact thaitrAk already had a policy in place prohibiting
graffiti on its trains and in the workplace, but she also ignarerak’s efforts to reemphasize
that policy by issuing the written notices outlined above.

Under the circumstances, the Court concludes tinatirak tookamply reasonable steps
to address the graffittboth by removing and investigating any graffiti that was discovered, and
also by striving to prevent the appearance of any graffiti in the firse plHuerefore evenif the
graffiti Tressler obseed were deemedufficiently “severe or pervasive” to create a “hostile”
work environment, the Court concludes that no reasonable jury could find Amtrak responsible

for such conduct.

11
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Second Tressler argues that Amtrak created and/or condoned a hostile work environment
because she was the victim of a sexual assault by her former coworker, Mr. (Plds Opp’'n
at 1012). At the outset Amtrak does not disputthat Mr. Floraengagedin some type of
inappropriate sexual conduct towards Tressler. Andrgheshowever, that even if Mr. Flora’s
conduct were found to bésevere or pervasive,” there is no legal basis to hold Amtrak
responsible for his actions. Tressler argues otherwise, althoughppkars to concede that
Amtrak could onlyfound responsie if: (a) Amtrakknew or had reason to know that Mr. Flora
was likely to assault Tressleoy (b) Amtrak failed to take appropriate corrective action after
becoming aware dfir. Flora’sactions. Pl.’'s Opp’nat 1312). Curry, 195 F.3d at 660Roof v.
Howard Univ, 501 F. Supp. 2d 108, 115 (D.D.C. 20Q0"&here the harassment of an employee
by a coworker is at issue. .the employercan be held liable only if it knew or had reason to
know of the harassment and failed to implement any prompt and ajgpeaprrective action.”)
The undisputed evidence establishes tk#&har of these scenariegistshere.

First, Tressler fails to raise a genuine issue of materiatdasuggesthat Amtrak knew
or should haventicipated that Mr. Floravould engagein anykind of sexually inappropriate
behavior towardlressler,or any other coworker Before the assault occurred March 2008,
Mr. Flora had been employed with Amtrak for nearly 30 years with virtuallgisciplinary
history. (Dkt. N0.52-15 (“Flora Dep.”) at 17; Flora Discipline). Although Tressler argues that
Mr. Flora had a “prior history of violenceshe overstatethe evidenceon this point, which
simply showshat Mr. Florawas accused of verbally threatening a male coworker sometime in
1996, that the underlying complaint regarding that incident was subsequently withdaad/
thatMr. Flora wasneverdisciplined for the incident(ld.). Additionally, this verbal altercation

occurred more than an entire decade beldre Flora’s actions against Tressler and hardly

12
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signakdthathe was at risk to engage in inappropriate sexual conduct towards femaleaswork
See, e.g.Sutherland v. WaMart Stores, InG.632 F.3d 990, 995 (7th Cir. 2011) (holding that,
while prior complaintsof “unwelcome #ention” may put an employer on notice of
“inappropriate workplace behavior,” those complaints did not provide notice that the eeploye
was likely to commit “sexual assault’More compelling on this issue, however, is the evidence
surrounding Tressler'swn interactions prior to the assault. During the earlier part of 2008,
Tressler rode with Mr. Flora more thaen times without any issues. She also testified that
despite knowing Mr. Flora fawenty years, she “was not fearful of [him] at any paimtil the
afternoon of March 14, 2008,” the day on which the assault took place. (Flora Dep. at.30; Dkt
No. 5220 (“Hearing Testimony”) at 102)Accordingly, the Court finds thakressler fails to
raise a genuine issue of material fact to suggest timatak knew or should have known that Mr.
Flora would sexually assault Tressler.

Similarly, the Court finds that, once Amtrak became aware of Mr. Floci@nag, it took
swift and appropriate disciplinary action to ensure that no similar conduotred The
reasonableness of Amtrak’s respers informed by “the amount of time that elapsed between
the notice and remedial actiothe options available to the employer, possibly including
employee training sessions, transferring the harassers, writtamgsrreprimands in personnel
files, or termination, and whether or not the measures ended the harasfRua{ft301 F. Supp.
2d at 11516 (quotingCurry, 195 F.3d at 663 n.17). Hewm the same day Tressler reported the
incident, Amtrak began invegtting theallegationsand contacted Amtrak Polise that it could
conduct its own investigation(Marcelle Decl.at { 10). Amtrak completed its investigation in
less than one week, suspended Mr. Flosayed charges against Mr. Flora, and scheduled a

disciplinary hearing to take placdld. at § 10-11). Following thosedisciplinary proceedings,

13
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Amtrak terminated Mr. Flora’'s employmeetfective May 16, 2008.(Id. at 113-18. Given
that Amtrak took what is essentially the ultimate disciplinaspoaseagainst Mr. Flora-i.e.,
termination—there was nothing else Amtrak could have done to prevent Mr. Flora from further
harassing Tresslér. Therefore, no reasonable jury could conclude that Amtrak failed to take
“appropriate corrective action” after Tressler reported Mr. Flora’s assault

Accordingly, the Court concludes thamtrak is entitled to summary judgment on

Tressler’s hostile work environmeclaims.

C. Retaliation (Counts Il and V)

Title VIl also prohibits an employer frordiscriminatirg and/or retaliatingagainstan
employee “because [s]he has opposed any practice’ made unlawful by Title Hesrmade a
charge, testified, assisted, or participaiaca Title VIl investigation or proceeding.Steele 535
F.3d at 695 (quoting 42 U.S.C. § 2068@)). While he contours of Tressler’s retaliatiolaiens
are hardly the model of claritysheappears to identify two instances of protected activity that
form the basis for her retaliation claims: (1) filing an EEOitarge against Amtrak iDecember

2006 (and later amending hevarge in May 2007); and (2) reporting Mr. Flora’s sexual assault

> Tressler nevertheless endeavors to challenge the reasonableness of Amipakiseres

To this end, she attempts create a factual dispute as to whether Mr. Flora was actually
terminated by Amtrak, citing Mr. Flora’s deposition testimony that he continuesctive
disability benefits that he believes are paid by Amtrak. (Pl.’s Opp’n-atLL0Even if the Court
were to credit Mr. Flora’s subjective beliefs regarding his leympent status with Amtrak-
which, in the face of uncontroverted documentary evidence to the contrary (Flonalimesat
14-18), the Court is not inclined to delressler misunderstands the relevant inquiry. Even if
Mr. Flora continues to receive some rforof benefits from Amtrak (as Tressler suggests),
Tressler is unable to contest the end result of Amtrak’s response: Anftradasures ended the
harassment.” Curry, 195 F.3d at 663 n.17. Hence, there is plainly no genuine dispute of
material fact as tthe reasonableness of Amtrak’s corrective action.
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on March 19, 2008. (Pl.’s Opp’nat 1218). In turn, Tressler alleges that she was subjected to
the following retaliatory conduct on the part of Anktr&l) having her pay stopped in October
2007; (2)having her paytoppedin May 2008;and (3 bang subjected to the abovdescribed
graffiti beginning shortly after March 2008ld {).

Amtrak mounts several attacks to Tressler’s retaliation claims. First, Amgaksathat
Tressler is unable to pursue at least some aspects of her retaliation clarm thef Court
because she failed to timely and properly exhaust her administrative eemé&#cond, Amtrak
assertghat Tressler’s retaliation clainail on the merits because she cannot establishnza

faciecase of retaliationThe Court addresses these arguments in turn.

1. Exhaustion of Administrative Remedies

Under Title VII, plaintiffs “must timely exhaust their administrative remedig®rbe
bringing their claims to court.”"Payne v. Salazar619 F.3d 56, 65 (D.C. Cir. 201Qpnternal
guotations omitted)Park v. Howard Uniy. 71 F.3d 904, 907 (D.C. Cir. 1998)A] person
complaining of a violation [must] file an administrative charge with EEOC and allow the
agency time to act on the charge.”). Simply put, “a timely administrativeesaegprerequisite
to initiation of a Title VII action in the District Court.’Jarrell v. U.S. Postal Serv753 F.2d
1088, 1091 (D.C. Cir. 1985) (cignBrown v. Gen. Servs. Admid25 U.S. 820 (1976)). This

requirement “serves the important purposes of giving the charged party notice lafirtharc

6 Amtrak’s motion also identified a third potentially protected activity upon which Tressler

might rely: her reporting of Mr. Draper’s alleged stalking in early 2006. (Dkfem. at 24).
However, because Tressler did not argue in her opposition brief that her complairdsgega
Mr. Draper constitute protected activity for purposes of her retaliatioms;lahose allegations
merit no discussion.
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‘narrowing the issues for prompt adjudication and decisioRédrk, 71 F.3d at 907 (quoting
Laffey v.Northwest Airlines, In¢567 F.2d 429, 472 (D.C. Cir. 1976)).

In this case, Tressler filed heariginal administrative charge with the EEOGn
December 19, 200@nd she later amended that chaageMay 3, 2007. (12/19/06 EEOC
Charge; 5/3/07 EEOC Chgg). After May 2007, Tressler didoh file any other administrative
charges with the EEOC, nor did she further amend her prior charges. ,Ibdcanse the only
chargesTressler filed predate her reporting of Mr. Flora’s assault and thecdllealiabry
conduct that followedAmtrak argues that Tressler never validly exhausted her administrative
remedies with respect to this component of her retaliation claifmsitrak cites to the Supreme
Court’s decision iNational Railroad Passenger Corp. v. Margin support of this argument,
which held thafTitle VII's exhaustion requirement “precludes recovery for discret®rectof
discrimination or retaliation that occur outside the statutory time peridsi36 U.S. 101, 105
(2002). The parties agree thdbrgans holding precludes the pursuit of Title VII claims for
acts that occurred more than 300 dagforethe EEOC charge was filed, but they disagree over
whetherMorganalso extend tobardiscrete claims that arigdterthe filing of an EEOC charge.

If Morgandoes not apply, then the Court is bound by the broader test adopted by our Circuit in

Park v. Howard Universitywhich limits Title VII lawsuits to claims that are “like or reasonably

! Amtrak alsosuggests that Tressler failed to exhaust her administrative remedies as to her

allegations that she was retaliated against for filing her original EE@@e&h In so arguing,
Amtrak points exclusively to the allegations of the Amended Complaint and contends that
Tressler only pleads the ongil December 2006 charge, but not the May 2007 amendment to
that charge, as the basis for her retaliation claim. (Def.’s Mem. at 24 Th&) Court does not
agree with Amtrak’s hypeiechnical interpretation. Not only does this argument belie common
serse, but even if the Court were to accept Amtrak’s position, the record estaltiah&ressler

did properly exhaust her remedies with respect to the original December 2006 . charge
Specifically, when Tressler amended her charge in May 2007, her declamtpressly
referenced her original EEOC charge and describes what could reasonatindheied as
allegations of harassing and retaliatory conduct she believes was subjebteatter. (5/3/07
EEOC Charge at 1 46, 48).
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related to the allegations of the charge and growing out of such allegatidass’ 71 F.3d at
907 (internal quotations omitted)The D.C. Circuit hasexpresslydeclined to resolve this
guestionthus far see, e.g.Payne 619 F.3d at 65Veberv. Battista 494 F.3d 179, 1884 (D.C.
Cir. 2007), althouglas Amtrakpoints out, several judges in this District hauwestled with the
issue. SeeDef.’s Mem. at 2324) (collecting cas@s

On balance, the Couneed not wade into these murky waters because, even applying the
more lenient standard set foith Park, Tressler’'scontention that she was retaliated agaiost
reporting Mr. Flora’s assadwitwhether by the appearance of graffiti in R2008 or Amtrak’s
stoppage of her pay in May 20088s not “reasonably related” to the allegations contained in her
EEOC charges.Park, 71 F.3d at 907Marshall v. Fed. Express Corpl30 F.3d 1095, 1098
(D.C. Cir. 1997) (explaining that the substance of a claim “must fall within thyeesof the
administrative investigation that can reasonably be expected to follow thgeclod
discrimination”). These allegations areimply too far removed-both in timing and in
substance-from the content of heunderlyingcharges, which were filed nearly a year before
Mr. Flora’s assault even occurred and which make no mention whatsoewsr ®ft of physical
assaultagainst her by a coworkefhus to the extent that Tressler relies on her reporting of Mr.
Flora’'s assault aa predicate “protected activityfor her retaliation claims, her claintanrot

proceed on these grounds.

2. The Substance of Tressler’s Retaliation Claim(s)
Retaliation claims under Title VIl (and the DCHRA) are subject to the{baeteburden
shifting framework oMcDonnell Douglas Under this approach, a plaintiff must first estabéish

prima facie case of retaliatiorby showing “(1) that [s]he engaged in statutorily protected
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activity; (2) that [s]he suffered a materially adverse action by [her] empleyd (3) that a
causal link connects the two.Jones v. Bernanké&57 F.3d 670, 677 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (citing
Wiley v. Glassman511 F.3d 151, 155 (D.C. Cir. 2007)Y.hereatfter, fi the plaintiff is able to
satisfy the requirements afprima faciecase, the burden shifts back to the employer to articulate
a legitimate, nometaliatory reason for its actiongd. If the employer does so, then the burden
shifting framework “disappears, and a court reviewing summary judgroeks ko whether a
reasonable jury could infer intentional . . . retaliation from all the evidenCarter v. George
Washington Uniy.387 F.3d 872, 878 (D.C. Cir. 2004). Here, the Court need not venture past
the first step of this analysis because Tressler fails to estalgraiafaciecase of retaliation.

First, the Court already concluded that Tressler failed to properly exhaust her
adminigrative remediess to any retaliation fanternallyreporting Mr. Flora’s assaulh March
2008 Thusthe only “protected activity” that can serve as the predicate for her retaliatiors clai
is the filing of her EEOC charge in December 2006 (dm sulsequent amendmenf that
chage in May 2007). While there is no dispute ttiseEEOC chargesatisfythe “protected
activity” prong of the prima faciecase Tressler must also adduce evidence demonstrating
“causal link” connecting her EEOC chargeslany adverse actions by AmtraBones 557 F.3d
at 677. AlthoughTressler’s briefingoints to three incidents that she believes amount to adverse
actions—(1) her pay stopggein October 2007; (2her pay stoppgein May 2008; and (3) the
graffiti thatbegan appearinghortly after March 2008-she alsallegesthatthe latter two were

done in rethation for her internal reporting of Mr. Flora’s assau#ither than irretaliationfor

her having filedEEOC complaints (SeePl.’s Opp’n at 16) (“In addition to having her pay

arbitrarily stopped shortly after Ms. Tressler reported the sexualilgsshe was also subject to

additional acts of retaliatiomycluding the graffiti.”). Consequently, the only claimed “adverse
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action” that Tressler even attemptslink to her EEOC charges is Amtrak’s withholding of her
pay from October 2007 through February 200Bl.’s Opp’nat 1617) (“Ms. Tressler’s pay was
stopped in October 2007, after Amtrak had notice of the [EEOC] charges.”). The Crefdrthe
confines its analysiaccordingly, in keeping with the argumeatgually advanced by Tressfér.

To demonstrate a causal connection, Tressler must show that Amtrak “had knowledge of
her protected activity, and that the adverse personnel action took place sttertilgat activity.”
Holbrook v. Renp196 F.3d 255, 263 (D.C. Cir. 1999). Even assuming that the temporary delay
in Tressler’'s pay could be considered an actionable adverse action for purposés \6f T
point that Amtrakcontesty the Court fimls that Tressler is unable to establish any causal link
between her EEOC charges and Amtrak’s decision to withhold herTgaeye is no dispute that
Tressler's manager who madeathlecision Mr. Mazeika, did not have any knowledge that
Tressler filed anEEOC charge until February 2012, more than three yaftesthe adverse
action took place(Dkt. No. 521 (“Mazeika Decl.”)at 112). Tressler seeks to avoid this result
by arguing that, even if Mr. Mazeika was unaware of her protected activitglirbet supervisor,

Mr. Wickham, may have known about the EEOC complaints and contributed to and/or caused
the withholding of her pay as a resulPl.{s Opp’nat 1617). But this argument gets Tressler
nowherge as her speculative assertion cannot overcome Mr. Wickhamésn declaration
confirming that the first time he discovered Tressler had filed any EEOC dotaplaas

similarly not until March 2012. (Dkt. No. 54 (“Wickham Decl.”) at § 6). Thus, because the

8 Even if the Court were tevaluate these other “adverse actions” on their merits, Tressler

would fare no better for the reasons discusstd. Most significantly, those additional actions
are drastically more attenuated in time from the underlying protected ychigiting alégedly
occurred more than an entire year after she filed her December 2006 EEOE (elmargen to
twelve months after her May 2007 amendment). Moreover, inasmuch as Tsesgbervisors
were completely unaware of her EEOC charges until she initiated this tasiai cannot
establish that their decision to withhold her pay in May 2008 was made in retaliatibBB@¢C
complaints, just as with her prior pay stoppage.
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undisputed facts demonstrate that neither Mr. Mazeika nor Mr. Wickirer® even awaref
Tressler’s claimed “protected activity” at the time of pay withholding, she cannot establish
the requisite causal connection to establiphiraa faciecase of retaliation

In addition, the significant gaage of time between Tressler's EEOC complaint and her
pay suspension further undermines any causal link between the two. In aut, Gieenporal
proximity can indeed support an inference of causation, but only where the tws axenery
close in tme.” Hamilton v. Geithner666 F.3d 1344, 1357 (D.C. Cir. 201@uotingWoodruff
v. Peters482 F.3d 521, 529 (D.C. Cir. 2007}lere, Tressler initially filed her EEOC charge in
December 2006, but her pay was not suspended until October 2007, tes latanthEven if the
Court were to measure this interval from the date of Tressler's amendeg amndviay 2007,
there is still a five month gap between these events. While there is nolimeghile on this
timing issue, the Court concludes that, unitie circumstances of this case, afisetenrmonth
gap is too lengthy to establish an inference of causats@e Clark Cnty. Sch. Dist. v. Breeden
532 U.S. 268, 2734 (2001) (citing approvingly cases finding thread fourmonth intervals
insufficient to establish a prima facie cgg8ustaveSchmidt v. Chaa360 F. Supp. 2d 105, 118
19 (D.D.C. 2004) (describing threeonth window as the “outer limit” of the temporal

requirement in a retaliation casédmtrak isthusentitled to summary judgmenhahese claims.

D. Constructive Demotion (Counts V and VI)
As the Court explained in ruling on Amtrak’s prior motion to dismfissnstructive
demotion”claimsare evaluate@s dstinct claims of disparate treatment gender discrimination,
under which the alleged adverse employment action is a constructive den{@ionNo. 33 at

4). Thus, theMcDonnell Douglashurdenshifting framework appliesand a plaintiffmust first
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establish grima faciecase of gender discrimination by showing that: “(1) sltensember of a
protected class; (2) she suffered an adverse employment action; and (3) the urdfaacirabl
gives rise to an inference of discriminationWiley, 511 F.3d at 155 (quotingrown v. Brody
199 F.3d 446, 452 (D.C. Cir. 1999)). If the plaintiff does so, the burden shifts to the employer to
articulate a “legitimate, nediscriminatory reason” for the challenged employment action,
leaving the plaintiff an opportunity to prove that the employer’s proffered exmanaas not
the true reason, ba pretext for discriminationld. at158. Here, Amtrak argues that Tressler’s
claims fail at theprima faciestage because she cannot prove that her “constructive demotion”
wasan adverse action.

More specifically,Amtrak assertghat Tressler's &ged “demotion” cannot béeemed
an adverse action because shl@untarily chose to transfer to a different position in the
Washington, D.Cyard. Def.’s Mem. at 3233). To the extent that Amtrak is suggesting that
voluntary employment choiceswhethertransfers to different positiorss otherwise—can never
amount to adverse employment actions, the Court does not agree. Rather, wheméffa plai
alleges that she was effectively forced to transfer positions due to a hosklewaonment or
someother discriminatory treatment, th€ourt finds thatthe standard governing constructive
discharge claims applies to determine whetherclaimed “demotionamounts to an actionable
adverse actionWhile the D.C. Circuit hasot addressed thesges of “condructive demotion”
claims, a number of other circuits have adopted this approdsée, e.g.Fenney v. Dakota,

Minn. & E. R.R. Co,. 327 F.3d 707, 717 (8th Cir. 2008impson v. BoryVarner Autg, Inc,
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196 F.3d 873, 8788 (7th Cir. 1999)Sharp v. City of Houstori64 F.3d 923, 9334 (5th Cir.
1999);Cuffee v. Tidewater Cmty. Collegt9 F. Supp. 2d 709, 718 (E.D. Va. 2006).

Under District of Columbia law, “a finding of constructive discharge depends on whethe
the employer deliberately made workingnditions intolerable and drove the employee out.”
Mungin v. Katten Muchin & Zavisl16 F.3d 1549, 1558 (D.C. Cir. 1999u¢ting Clark v.

Marsh, 665 F.2d 1168, 1173 (D.C. Cir. 1981)yhis inquiry is anobjective onewhether “the
working conditions [became] so intolerable that a reasonable person in the erspbmgon

would have felt compelled to resign,” or in this case, to voluntarily “demote” oneself to a
different position. Penn. State Police v. Sude&12 U.S. 129, 141 (2004Yeitch v. Egland

471 F.3d 124, 130 (D.C. Cir. 2006). Moreover, the mere existence of workplace discrimination
or a hostile work environment, as alleged here, is not enough, as a constructivegelischa
demotion claim “requires a finding of discrimination and #sting of certain ‘aggravating
factors.” Veitch 471 F.3d at 13Q*“Aggravating factors’are those aspects of a discriminatory
work environment that, by making the workplace so disagreeable, prevent the reasonable

employee fronseeking remediation on the job.”)

9 The Court points out that its prior Memorandum Opinion addressing Amtrak’s Partial

Motion to Dismiss identifiedHawkins v. Holder597 F. Supp. 2d 4 (D.D.C. 2009), as having
recognized a “constructive demotion” theory. Upon further reviewd now having the benefit
of a fully-developed factual record at the summary judgment-stige Court does not find the
Hawkinsdecision particularly applicable here after all. Hawkins the plaintiff's “constructive
demotion” claim centered on her employer’'s reclassification of herirexigtosition to a
particular government pay scale. In otherrdg) the demotion was characterized as
“constructive” because, even though her title remained the same, Hawkinsedtehey
employer's changes to the pay scale and/or her responsibilities effectioektituted a
demotion. Id. at 2223. Here, by contst, Tressler’s claimed demotion is “constructive” in the
sense that, although she voluntarily sought out a new position within Amtrak, she tsgeshe
was effectively forced to do so because of the hostile work environment she exqukireher
former role. (Am. Compl. at 1 681). Thus, unlike irHawkins Tressler's claims are more
akin to claims for constructive discharge, and the Court evaluates her claimshaleagnes.
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Tressler assertthat, because of thénostile work environmentllegedly created by
Amtrak, she was forced to transfer from her former position with the VRE to aediffe
geographic zone within Amtrak, ultimately accepting a position in theyaedl in Washington,

D.C,, in January 2007 (Pl.’s Opp’n at 3-4). Although Tressler's hourly pay rate remained the
same, she alleges that healarywas effectively cut in half because there were fewer hours
available in her new position. She also asserts that her new position had a ileddedes
schedule, requiring her to work night shifts and weekend shiftk). (Amtrak suggests that
these changes do not amount to an adverse action for purposes of Title VII and responds that, if
Tressler did not like the position, she simply could have waited and applied for andiffere
position, as new jobs were advertised on a weekly bafief.’§ Mem. at 3233). But &en
assuming for the moment that these changes to Tressler’'s working condidioise to he level

of an actionable adverse employment action, the Court finds that no reasonable jdry coul
conclude that the alleged hostile work environment about which Tressler cosnplas so
“intolerable” that a reasonable person would have felt forcedneftra

To begin with, the Court already found that Tressler’s hostile work environmensclaim
cannot be sustained because there was no evidence to impute responsibilityattegtuay
harassing incidents slmasidentified—the sexuallyexplicit graffiti and Mr. Flora’s assaui-to
Amtrak. Of course those two incidentswhich occurred in March 2008r later cannot be
considered part of the “intolerable conditions” supporting Tressler’s congé&uemotion claim
in any evenbecause they postdate her January 2007fé&rahy more than an entire yer.As

such, Tressler also relies upon the allegedly harassing behavior of Mr. Draper, anak’/Am

10 Despite this,Tressler vaguely alludes to the March 2008 assaulirguing that her

constructive demotion claims should survive summary judgment. (Dkt. Nb.a539). As set
forth above, to the extent that Tressler argues that these circumstancesbshooihgidered in
connection with her constructive demotion kiaj the Court rejects this argument.
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response to her concerns. But Mr. Draper stopped riding Tressler's route on June 22, 2006
more than six maths before she sought to transfer to the Washington, D.C. yard. (5/3/07 EEOC
Chargeat 1 36). Tis significant passage of time severely undercuts the notion that Mr. Draper’s
actions, and/or Amtrak’s response to those actions, constituted a concéeivablgrable”
condition that forced Tressler to transfer to a different position. While the @oognizes that
Tressler’'s experience with Mr. Draper may have certainly been uncomé&rtedsl assertions
cannot be reasonably construed as suffityeisevere” to leave a reasonable employee with no
other option than to “demote” herself to another position. Amtrak is therefore entitled to

summary judgment on these claims.

E. FELA Claims (Count VII)

The Federal Employers’ Liability Act, 45 U.S.C. § 54t seq, “renders railroads liable
for employees’ injuries . . . ‘resulting in whole or in part from [carrier] igegice.”” CSX
Transp., Incv. McBride _ U.S. , 131 S. Ct. 2630, 2634 (2011) (quoting 45 U.S.C).SFdr
purposes of FELA, “negligence . attaches if the railroad knew, or by the exercise of due care
should have known, that prevalent standards of conduct were inadequate” to protect tiffe plainti
from injury. McMillan v. Nat'l R.R. Passenger Cor48 A.2d 428, 432 (D.C. 1994) (quoting
Urie v. Thompson337 U.S. 163, 178 (1949)). While a FELA plaintiff is required to prove a
failure on the part of the railroad to use reasonable care under the circumstanedsxed
standard of causation appliesConsol. Rail Corp. v. Gottshab12 U.S. 532, 543 (1994). Thus,
a plaintiff may prevail on a FELA claim if the railroad’s negligence “play part, even the
slightest,” in causing the plaintiff's injury.Rogers v. Mo. Pac. R.R. C&52 U.S. 500, 506

(1957).
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In connection with her FELAIlaim, Tressler seeks to recover for three distinct sets of
injuries for which she claims Amtrak is responsible: (1) back pain, headaches, and numbness
her hand allegedly resulting from being forced to change her seating positiomitb aa
potentially harassing passengdR) an injury to her ankle as she was steppin§ aftrain on
September 14, 2006and @) back pain, headaches, numbneasd other stresslated
symptomslike weight gainthat she attributes tihe alleged hostile work environmemeated or
condoned by Amtrak. Def.’'s Mem. at 33 Pl.’s Opp’n at 19). Amtrak argues that Tressler's
claim should be dismissed because most of these injuries are barred by ttebbgpptatute of
limitations. For those injuries that are not tiverred, Amtrakseeks summary judgment on the
grounds that Tressler cannot establish that any of her claimed irgugi¢ise result of Amtrak’s

negligence. The Court takes these arguments in turn.

1. Statute of Limitations
FELA claims are subject to a threeay statute oimitations. 45 U.S.C. § téyat'l R.R.

Passenger Corp. v. Krousé27 A.2d 489, 493 (D.C. 1993). FELA'’s statutory scheme does not
define when a cause of action accrues, but when the case involves “a traumngtioriaj single
breach of duty and an immediately manifest injury . . . the cause of action aactiesime the
plaintiff's interest is invaded or at the time the tortious act is committed which cawses th
injury.” Krouse 627 A.2d at 4934 (citingClay v. Union Carbide Corp828 F.2d 1103, 1106
(5th Cir. 1987);Brassard v. Boston & Maine R,R240 F.2d 138, 141 (1st Cir. 1957)).
Otherwise, federal courts apply the “discovery rule” to injuries that manifeshselves
sometime after the initial cause of the injury, sti@ita FELA claim accrues “when the injured

party discovers the injury and its potential causkl’ at 495 (citingFries v. Chicago & N.W.
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Transp. Ca.909 F.2d 1092, 1@9(7th Cir. 1990));see also Matson v. Burlington N. Santa Fe
R.R, 240 F.3d 1233, 1238.0th Cir. 2001) (holding that the FELA statute of limitations begins
to run when the plaintiff “knows or has reason to know of the existence and cause of the injury
which is the basis of his action”).

Here, Amtrak argues that the first two sets of iesithat comprise Tressler's FELA
claim—(1) her injuries resulting from a potentially harassing passeagel(2) her ankleinjury
from stepping offa train—are timebarred because those injuries arose prior to October 28, 2006,
outside the statutory period. Although Tressler concedes that these iajudesurred prior to
October 28, 2006, she maintains ttiaéy should not be timbarred andargwesin conclusory
fashion that a jury couldomehowconcludethat Tressler did not discovAmtrak was the @ause
of those injuries until laterThe Court disagrees.

Tressler attributes her first set of injuries to the uncomfortable positiohichwhe was
allegedly forced to sit due to the conduct of a harassing passenger from January 1& 02006 t
June22, 2006. (Am. Complat §f 1112, 75). Tressler claims thashe began suffering back
pain, headaches and numbness in her lagna resujtand she started to see a chiropractor for
these conditions on April 24, 2006, until October 10, 2006. (5/3/07CEEGargeat  16).
According to Tressler, “[t]he chiropractor identified [her] symptaassstress related and hald]
indicated that [her] position in [her] chair exacerbated [her] conditiold’). (Thereforeto the
extent that shdelievedthat Amtraks negligenceor inaction with respect to this harassing
passengewas the cause of those injurié®r own admissions demonstrétatany suchbelief
should have been plaingvidentwell before October 26, 2006Tressler's FELA claim as to
those injurisis thereforebarred by the statute of limitations.

Tressler's second alleged umy—her ankle injury—presents an evemasier case.
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Tresslerallegesthat, due to Amtrak’s negligence, she injured her ankle when stepping off a train
on September 14, 2006. (Am. Comaly 76 Disability Claim). This is precisely thgype of
“immediate manifest injury” that the D.C. Court of Appeals has observee@sdite difficulty

in determining the commencement of the limitations périattler FELA. Krouse 627 A2d at
49394. Tressler was plainly aware aer ankleinjury and its cause at the time it occurred in
September 2006, outside of the statute of limitatfdnSherefore Tressler's anklénjury is also

time-barredfor purposes of FELA.

2. Amtrak’s Negligence

Finally, Tressler seeks to recover for injuries she claims to have su#fere result of the
hostile work environmenallegedlycreated by Amtrak. In her Amended Complaint, Tressler
identifieda number of “stresgelated symptoms” she believesigded fromthe allegedlyhostile
work environment, including “back pain, headaches, numbrjasd] ongoinginjury to her
ankle.” (Am. Compl. { 77).She also appears to seek recovery for her alleged weight gain and
for two broken crowns. Oef.’s Mem. at 35). To begin with,tiis unclear whethanany ofthese
claimed injuries are distinct from thoateadydiscussed above. To the extent they are not, the
Court’s prior analysisplainly dispenses with those claim8ut even ifthese injuries manifested
themselves at a later time or derived from differaliéged conduct on the part of Amtrak,
Tressler still cannot prevail under FELA.

Tressler specificallyargues that shean recover for injuries arising out of the sexual

assault by Mr. Flora(Pl.’s Opp’nat 20). However,Tressler can only recover for these injuries

11 Amtrak alternatively argues that the Court should calculate the statute of limitations from

the date of the Tressler's Amended Complaint, since her original complaint madetmnné
any ankle injury. (Dkt. No. 52 at 35 n.15). Because Trésstim is time-barred under either
analysis, however, the Court need not reach this issue.
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under FELA (1) if Mr. Flora perpetrated the assault within the scope of his employamehin
furtherance of Amtrak’s dutiesr (2) if Amtrak was negligent in failing to prevent that assault
See Books v. Wash. Terminal C&93 F.2d 1285, 1288 (D.C. Cir. 197®grsley v. Nat'l| R.R.
Passenger Corp831 F. Supp. 464, 468 (D. Md. 1993) (citi@gwards v. Chesapeake & Ohio
Ry. Co, 580 F.2d 713, 715 (4th Cir. 1978)). Tressler does not argue th&idvlr. was acting
within the scope of his employment when he assaulted her, which means that siwycan
prevail by demonstrating that Amtrak was negligent. This she cannot do, giveheti@ourt
already foundhat Amtrakhad no reason to know thislr. Flora was likely to assaulressler
Accordingly, even assuming Tressler could satisfy the other common law néteroé
negligence—i.e., duty, breach, and causatioNcDavitt, 804 A.2d at 2884—she cannot
demonstrate that Mr. Floraassault was foreseeabl&rooks 593 F.2d at 12890 (finding no
FELA liability for coworker assault where the incident was not foreseedPéelley 831 F.
Supp. at 468 (same). In sum, Tressler fails to raise a genuine issue of neatefrahi which a
reasonable jyrcould conclude that Amtrak negligently failedpgevent the injuries she claims

to have suffered as a resultMf. Flora’s assault.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Defendan¥otion for Summary Judgment GRANTED.

An order accompanielis Memorandum Opinion.
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